INTRODUCTION 


Chevron and the "Bonar Owners"l are parties to an oil and gas lease that 

contains an arbitration agreement. Starting in 2016, Chevron began taking certain 

cost deductions in calculating the Bonar Owners' oil and gas royalties, which 

Chevron believed it was entitled to do under the lease. The Bonar Owners 

disagreed. But instead of commencing arbitration to resolve the dispute, the Bonar 

Owners filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of Marshall County. Chevron 

immediately moved to compel the case to arbitration. The Circuit Court denied the 

motion, curiously holding that Chevron's "pre-litigation conduct" of taking the cost 

deductions without itself first commencing arbitration waived its ability to later 

compel it. 

The Circuit Court's decision was, respectfully, both erroneous and based on 

flawed and circular reasoning. It was erroneous because there is no support from 

this Court that pre-litigation conduct can waive a contractual right to arbitration. 

The only context in which this Court has acknowledged the possibility of waiver is 

during litigation-that is, where a party engages in so much litigation activity that 

it has waived the ability to change course and seek arbitration. Pre-litigation 

conduct, on the other hand, has never been recognized by this Court as a basis for 

finding waiver of a contractual right to arbitration. And even if, as a general 

matter, pre-litigation conduct could theoretically waive the right to arbitration, the 

The "Bonar Owners" are Respondents John Robert Bonar and John & Werner 
Law Offices, PLLC. 
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kind of pre-litigation conduct here-simple performance (or alle.ged non

performance) of another provision of the contract--cannot give rise to waiver. 

The Circuit Court's reasoning was also flawed because the court effectively 

found that the alleged wrongful conduct that gave rise to the claim at hand (the 

taking of certain cost deductions), in and of itself, waived the right to arbitration. 

In other words, under the Circuit Court's implicit circular interpretation of the 

arbitration agreement, any time that a contracting party performs under a contract 

in a way that could be construed by the other as a potential breach, a waiver of the 

dispute-resolution provision in the agreement would automatically occur. Such an 

interpretation runs afoul of this Court's familiar canon against interpreting 

contracts in a manner that would "create an absurd result." See Dunbar Fraternal 

Order ofPolice v. City ofDunbar, 218 W. Va. 239, 244,624 S.E.2d 586,591 (2005) 

("Generally, this Court will not interpret a contract in a manner that creates an 

absurd result."). 

The Circuit Court's decision is troubling and eviscerates the contractually 

agreed-to arbitration agreement of the parties. Respectfully, this Court should 

reverse. 
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ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


The Circuit Court erred when it concluded that Chevron waived its 

contractual right to arbitration through its alleged pre-litigation conduct of 

unilaterally taking cost deductions under the lease without first seeking permission 

through arbitration. 

3 




STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


A The Parties Entered Into an Oil and Gas Lease Containing an 
Arbitration Agreement. 

On August 6, 2010, TriEnergy Holdings, LLC entered into an oil and gas 

lease with Grace L. Bonar and John Robert Bonar. (App. 5a-6a, at ~~ 4-5). After 

the execution of the original lease, there were various assignments of the lease, 

whereby Ms. Bonar transferred her rights under the lease to Mr. Bonar and John & 

Werner Law Offices, PLLC. (App. 6a, at ~ 5). Chevron became the successor-in

interest to all of TriEnergy Holdings, LLC's rights and obligations under the Lease. 

(App. 6a, at ~ 5). Through these assignments, it is undisputed that the Bonar 

Owners and Chevron are the present parties under the lease. (App. 5a-6a, at ~~ 4

5). 

The lease contains the following arbitration provision, which is the provision 

at issue in this appeal: 

ARBITRATION - Any question concerning this lease or performance 
thereunder shall be ascertained and determined by three disinterested 
arbitrators, one thereof to be appointed by the Lessor, one by the 
Lessee and the third by the two so appointed as aforesaid, and the 
award of such three persons shall be final and conclusive. The cost of 
such arbitration will be borne equally by the parties. 

(App. 36a, at ~ 17). This provision appears on the second page of a three-page 

document and is labeled in all capitals "ARBITRATION." (App. 36a, at ~ 17). 

B. 	 The Bonar Owners Sued Chevron Despite the Clear Agreement to 
Arbitrate. 

Notwithstanding the clear agreement to arbitrate, the Bonar Owners filed a 

complaint on October 15, 2016 in the Circuit Court. In the complaint, the Bonar 
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Owners alleged that Chevron was "wrongfully and unlawfully deducting costs from 
\ 

[their] respective royalties." (App. 9a, at , 21). From this core allegation, the Bonar 

Owners sought a declaration that Chevron was breaching the lease and requested 

an order: (i) prohibiting Chevron from taking any cost deductions from the Bonar 

Owners' future royalties, and (ii) requiring Chevron to repay the Bonar Owners for 

all deductions taken to date. (App. 9a-10a, at, 24). 

C. The Proceedings Below. 

After the complaint was filed, Chevron's first substantive response in the 

case was to move to compel arbitration. (App. 22a-24a). Chevron argued that the 

Bonar Owners' claim fell within the broad scope of the arbitration agreement and, 

therefore, the Bonar Owners should be compelled to arbitrate their claim against 

Chevron consistent with mandates of the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1, et 

seq. (the "FAA"), West Virginia law, and the unambiguous terms of the lease. (See 

App. 25a-32a). 

In response, the Bonar Owners did not dispute that their claim fell within the 

broad scope of the arbitration agreement. (App.89a-98a). Instead;in their 

memorandum in opposition, the Bonar Owners' sole argument was that the 

arbitration agreement is "unconscionable" and, therefore, unenforceable. (App. 89a

98a). Chevron filed a reply memorandum, refuting the unconscionability argument. 

(App. 117a-125a). 

The Circuit Court held an oral argument on Chevron's motion to compel 

arbitration on November 30,2016. (App.1287-182a). A few minutes before the 
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start of the oral argument, the Bonar Owners provided Chevron's counsel with an 

affidavit from Mr. Bonar. (App. 183a-185a). The Circuit Court accepted Mr. 

Bonar's affidavit into the record over Chevron's objection. (App. 166a, at 39:5-6). 

At the oral argument, the Bonar Owners changed course and argued for the 

first time that Chevron had waived its right to arbitrate through its pre-litigation 

conduct. Specifically, the Bonar Owners argued that Chevron acted inconsistently 

with the right to arbitrate by "unilaterally" deciding the "question" of whether 

certain cost deductions were permissible without first submitting that dispute to 

arbitration. (App. 159a, at 32:6-10). 

The Circuit Court agreed, denied Chevron's motion to compel arbitration, and 

adopted the Bonar Owners' waiver argument. (App. 1a-3a). The Circuit Court 

found that "defendant by its pre-litigation conduct in unilaterally commencing 

certain cost deductions from plaintiffs' royalties without first seeking through 

arbitration the authority to do so has waived any contractual right to compel 

plaintiffs into arbitration on the question of costs." (App.2a). As a result of this 

finding, the Circuit Court decided it was "unnecessary to make further judicial 

findings on the parties' contentions respecting unconscionability .... " (App.2a). 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


The Circuit Court's decision that Chevron waived its contractual right to 

arbitrate through its pre-litigation conduct is in error and should be reversed, for at 

least the following three reasons. 

First, there is no legal support from this Court to conclude that pre-litigation 

conduct can waive a party's ability ·to invoke an arbitration provision. And to the 

extent that the Circuit Court interpreted the lease in a way that would support 

such a conclusion, such an interpretation is untenable and should be rejected. 

Second, even ifpre-litigation conduct could give rise to waiver, the Bonar 

Owners did not satisfy their evidentiary burden to sustain the Circuit Court's 

decision. As the Fourth Circuit has stated, the party opposing arbitration bears the 

"heavy burden" of proving waiver. See MicroStrategy Inc. v. Lauricis, 268 F.3d 244, 

251 (4th Cir. 2001). The only "evidence" that the Bonar Owners presented was Mr. 

Bonar's affidavit, which stated that "he has directly interacted with representatives 

of Chevron on a variety of 'questions concerning the Lease' and resolved the 

'questions' without arbitration." (App. 184a, at ~ 13). This vague statement falls 

far short of proving that Chevron waived the right to arbitrate any matter that later 

matured into a formal legal dispute. 

Third, to the extent that the Bonar Owners' waiver argument regarding pre

litigation conduct is viable, it was an argument that the arbitrators should have 

decided, not the court. The Supreme Court of the United States recently stated in 

dicta in BG Group, PLC v. Republic ofArgentina that questions of waiver, when 
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viewed as preconditions to arbitration, are procedural matters to be decided by the 

arbitrators. 134 S. Ct. 1198, 1207 (2014) (citing Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. 

Mercury Constr. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24-25 (1983». 

In addition to the waiver issue, Chevron anticipates that the Bonar Owners 

may attempt to argue that the arbitration provision is unconscionable, as an 

alternative way for this Court to affirm the Circuit Court's decision. Accordingly, 

Chevron addresses that argument below. 

In order to meet their burden of establishing unconscionability, the Bonar 

Owners were required to prove that the arbitration provision is both procedurally 

and substantively unconscionable. Procedural unconscionability is found where 

there is unfairness in the bargaining process, while substantive unconscionability is 

found where a term is too one-sided. The Bonar Owners never claimed that there 

was unfairness in the bargaining process and, therefore, there can be no finding of 

unconscionability. 

Even if the Bonar Owners had proven procedural unconscionability, their 

argument would still fail because there is no substantive unconscionability. The 

Bonar Owners argued that the arbitration agreement is substantively, 

unconscionable because the alleged "costs of the arbitration process are 

disproportionately high." (App.96a). However, the Bonar Owners failed to offer 

competent evidence definitively proving the costs of arbitration or that those costs 

are prohibitive; instead, the Bonar Owners only offered a speculative guess as to the 

potential costs of the arbitration and, importantly, did not contend that they could 
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not afford those alleged costs. Therefore, the Bonar Owners are bound to arbitrate 

their claim as they agreed in the lease. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Chevron respectfully requests oral argument pursuant to Rule 19. This 

appeal concerns narrow issues oflaw, such as whether certain pre-litigation conduct 

can serve as the basis for waiver of the contractual right to arbitration. This case 

also concerns insufficient evidence or a result against the weight of the evidence

specifically, the Bonar Owners' failure to adduce sufficient evidence to support their 

waiver and unconscionability arguments: 
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ARGUMENT 


A. Standard of Review. 

"An order denying a motion to compel arbitration is an interlocutory ruling 

which is subject to immediate appeal under the collateral order doctrine." SyL Pt. 1, 

Credit Acceptance C9rp. v. Front, 231 W. Va. 518, 519, 745 S.E.2d 556,557 (2013). 

The Court reviews "such an order de novo." Citibank, N.A. v. Perry, -S.E.2d -, 

2016 WL 6677944, at *3 (W. Va. Nov. 10,2016). 

Insofar as the, resolution of this matter requires the Court to consider the 

language of the lease, this Court has "held that it is the province of the Court to 

interpret a written contract." Id. (all internals omitted). Therefore, this Court 

applies a "de novo standard of review to a circuit court's interpretation of a 

contract." Id. (all internals omitted). 

B. 	 The Circuit Court Erred When It Found that Chevron Waived Its 
Contractual Right to Arbitration Through Taking Cost Deductions. 

The Circuit Court erred when it reached the unprecedented decision that 

"defendant by its pre-litigation conduct ... has waived any contractual right to 

compel plaintiffs into arbitration." (App.2a). As discussed below, this decision was 

erroneous because: (i) there is no support from this Court's decisions tha,t pre

litigation conduct can give rise to waiver (particularly, the pre-litigation conduct at 

issue here); (ii) interpreting the arbitration agreement to suggest such a result was 

improper; (iii) the Bonar Owners adduced insufficient evidence to support their 

claim of waiver; and (iv) the waiver claim was, in any event, for the arbitrators to 

decide, not the Circuit Court. 
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1. 	 This Court Has Never Recognized Pre-Litigation Conduct As 
Giving Rise to Waiver. 

This Court has never held that a party can waive its contractual right to 

arbitration through pre-litigation conduct. Instead, all of this Court's cases 

addressing waiver of the right to arbitrate concern whether, or to what degree, the 

other party waived its right to arbitrate by participating in litigation. See, e.g., 

Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs. Inc., 237 W. Va. 138, 147-48, 785 S.E.2d 844, 

854-55 (2016) ("The parties in this case dispute what circumstances are required to 

prove a party waived its contractual right to arbitrate by participating in 

litigation."); Citibank, 2016 WL 6677944, at *3 (reviewing circuit court order finding 

that "Citibank effectively waived any purported arbitration rights it once held 

because Citibank, inter alia, voluntarily selected Boone County Circuit Court as its 

preferred forum, litigated its disputes with Mr. Perry in this Court, agreed to an 

amended scheduling order allowing for counterclaims, issued fact witness 

disclosures, requested judgment on the pleadings, and waited nearly five years to 

invoke its purported contractual right to arbitrate.").2 

Consistent with this Court's decisions, the Fourth Circuit has explained that 

"a party may waive its right to insist on arbitration" if the party seeking to enforce 

an arbitration provision "so substantially utilizes the litigation machinery that to 

This Court did not find waiver in either of these cases. See, e.g., Parsons, 785 
S.E.2d at 854-55 ("There is nothing in the record to suggest the defendant expressly 
waived its right to arbitrate. The defendant also did not implicitly waive its 
contractual right to arbitration by answering or responding to the civil complaint 
without asserting its right."); Citibank, 2016 WL 6677944, at *5 ("[W]e find no 
waiver by Citibank"). 
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subsequently permit arbitration would prejudice the party opposing [enforcement of 

the provision]." MicroStrategy, 268 F.3d at 249 (internal marks and citation 

omitted). Simply put, there is no support from this Court or from any West Virginia 

federal court endorsing pre-litigation conduct as a basis for waiver. 

In a few cases outside of West Virginia, other courts have been presented 

with arguments pertaining to pre-litigation conduct in this waiver context. These 

cases have typically involved situations where pre-suit correspondence has been 

exchanged in which one of the parties initially refused to agree to a proposed 

arbitration, or where one of the parties refused to engage in settlement discussions 

or otherwise engaged'in delay tactics. The courts in those cases have refused to find 

waiver based on that pre-litigation conduct, affirming the principle that substantive 

participation in litigation is what generally gives rise to waiver, not pre-litigation 

activities. See, e.g., Welborn Clinic v. MedQuist, Inc., 301 F.3d 634,637 (7th Cir. 

2002) ("[E]ven strong-arm tactics like the withholding of important medical records 

while demanding payment are not automatically enough to constitute an implied 

waiver of the agreement's arbitration provision."); Highlands Wellmont Health 

Network, Inc. v. John Deere Health Plan, Inc., 350 F.3d 568, 574 (6th Cir. 2003) 

(finding no waiver where defendant in a pre-litigation letter discussing dispute 

resolution declined "at [that] point" to agree to arbitration, but then immediately 

invoked the arbitration provision upon the commencement of litigation by filing a 

motion to compel arbitration and stay the proceedings); Servpro Intellectual Prop., 

Inc. v. Stellar Emarketing, Inc., No. 3:15-cv-1267, 2016 WL 6948336, at *8 (M.D. 
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Tenn. Nov. 28, 2016) ("Even if one assumes that the e-mail exchange put 

[defendant] on notice of a potential dispute under its contract with [plaintiff], 

though, declining to immediately initiate arbitration is insufficient to support a 

finding ofwaiver.").3 

Servpro is particularly instructive. There, on a third-party complaint, the 

plaintiff alleged that the defendant waived its right to arbitrate due to an alleged 

pre-litigation delay in asserting its rights, arguing that the defendant should have 

"initiated arbitration proceedings" as soon as the parties began exchanging emails 

regarding the defendant's dissatisfaction with the plaintiffs search engine 

optimization service because it put the defendant on notice "of a potential.dispute." 

Servpro, 2016 WL 6948336, at *8. The court rejected this argument, finding that 

"declining to immediately initiate arbitration is insufficient to support a finding of 

waiver." Id. The court further explained that there is "nothing in the FAA 

suggesting that a party loses its arbitration rights merely by failing to exercise 

them at the earliest possible opportunity." Id. Because at the time of the email 

exchange, the defendant "had no way of knowing with any certainty how serious or 

contentious the dispute ... would become," the defendant's alleged "failure to rush to 

The lone exception appears to be the situation where, pre-litigation, one party 
demands arbitration, but the other categorically refuses to participate. See, e.g., 
Growtech Partners v. Accenture LLP, 118 F. Supp. 3d 920,941 (S.D. Tex. 2015) 
(holding that "categorical refusals" to arbitrate constituted waiver where "Accenture 
India responded to all Abraham's arbitration demands by stating repeatedly and 
clearly that Abraham's claims were not arbitrable as well as without merit and that 
Accenture would not arbitrate"). That is unlike this case; here, the Bonar Owners 
did not request arbitration, and Chevron, of course, never resisted it. 
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arbitration as soon as the bare potential for a dispute became apparent was in no 

way inconsistent with its later reliance on the arbitration provision." Id. 

The present case is similar. Like Servpro, here, the Bonar Owners alleged 

that Chevron should have initiated arbitration before taking the cost deductions. 

(App. 159a, at 32:7-9) (The Bonar Owners' Counsel: "That's a question that they 

should have sought before they deducted. They should have sought that to be 

decided in arbitration to give them the authority to deduct."). But like Servpro, 

Chevron also had no way of knowing "how serious or contentious the dispute" would 

be, or whether a formal dispute would arise at all. Therefore, the "failure to rush to 

arbitration as soon as the bare potential for a dispute became apparent" in this case 

should similarly not be viewed as a waiver of the right to arbitrate. 

Finally, even ifpre-litigation conduct could as a general matter waive a right 

to arbitrate, there is no support to suggest that the kind of conduct here should 

suffice. Chevron acted under the lease by taking cost deductions it believed it was 

entitled to take in calculating the Bonar Owners' royalties. There is no support for 

a finding that performance or non-performance under one part of a contract serves 

to waive the arbitration provision in the contract. Cf. Pakinghouse Workers v. 

Needham, 376 U.S. 247, 253 (1964) (holding that breach of one provision of contract 

does not waive arbitration provision in the contract). 

2. 	 Interpreting the Arbitration Agreement to Permit Waiver Is 
Untenable. 

A second reason that the Circuit Court's decision should be reversed is 

because it implicitly relies on an untenable interpretation of the arbitration 
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agreement. While it is not apparent from the Circuit Court's order, the Bonar 

Owners argued below that the language of the arbitration provision should be 

interpreted to mean that any question regarding the lease must be resolved by 

arbitration, even if such a question was not presently disputed or did not rise to the 

level of seriousness to warrant formal legal proceedings. (See App. 158a-162a). 

That is, the Bonar Owners argued that the arbitration provision, which

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