I. OUESTIONS PRESENTED 


1. Whether the Trial Court properly found defendant waived any contractual right to 

compel arbitration. 

2. Whether, as an independent basis, the Trial Court's denial ofdefendant's Motion to 

Compel Arbitration is affirmable on grounds ofunconscionability.

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

Citibank, N.A. v. Perry, 2016 W. Va. LEXIS 821, *6,797 S.E.2d 803, 2016 WL 6677944 (W. Va. 
Nov. 10,2016). 

As Citibank further recites: 
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[i]t is the province ofthe Court ... to interpret a written contract.' Syl. Pt. 1 [, 
in part], Stephens v. Bartlett, 118 W. Va. 421, 191 S.E. 550 (1937)." Syl. pt. 1, in 
part, Orteza v. Monongalia Cnty. Gen. Hosp., 173 W. Va. 461,318 S.E.2d 40 (1984). 
Therefore, "we apply a de novo standard ofreview to [ a] circuit court's interpretation 
of [a] contract." Zimmerer v. Romano, 223 W. Va. 769, 777, 679 S.E.2d 601, 609 
(2009) (per curiam) (citation omitted). 

2016 W. Va. LEXIS 821, *6-7, 797 S.E.2d 803, 2016 WL 6677944. 

Consistently, it has been repeatedly emphasized that challenges to arbitration provisions based on 

waiver or unconscionability are for the state courts to resolve. 

[A] state court may assess whether an arbitration agreement is unenforceable under 
general principles of state law, "such as laches, estoppel, waiver, fraud, duress, or 
unconscionability. " 

Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs., 785 S.E.2d 844, 852, 237 W. Va. 138, 146 (2016). 

B. Defendant's Arguments on the Issue of Waiver Are Fatally Flawed 

Defendant's attacks on the Trial Court's waiver ruling are legally misguided. The main 

argument that it leads with, the contention that waiver principles are confined to in-litigation 

conduct, simply fails to appreciate what has long been established in West Virginia's waiver 

jurisprudence. 

Defendant's argument is essentially this: that until the West Virginia Supreme Court is 

called upon to decide an arbitration case where waiver is alleged to have been committed through 

pre-litigation conduct, pre-litigation conduct cannot serve as the basis for waiver. This is illogical, 

particularly when the principles laid out by our seminal waiver cases clearly apply to conduct 

regardless of the existence of litigation. As is seen, while the existence of litigation may serve as 

part of the circumstances to be considered by a court in determining waiver, the date of suit 

commencement is not some boundary line beyond which lies no possible waiver-causing conduct 
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purely as a matter oflaw. Indeed, defendant does not even get support for its contention by the cases 

to which it cites. 

Defendant is right to identify Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs., supra, as an important 

case respecting waiver in an arbitration clause setting. While the factual focus ofParsons was upon 

conduct on the part ofthe defendant (who was seeking to compel arbitration) committed during the 

course of litigation, the analysis and legal standards offered by Chief Justice Ketchum clearly 

demonstrate the fallacies of defendant's position. 

As a threshold matter Justice Ketchum stressed that an arbitration agreement is to be treated 

"like any other contract, nothing more, nothing less. The FAA [Federal Arbitration Act] has no 

talismanic effect; it does not elevate arbitration clauses to a level of importance above all other 

contract tenns." 237 W. Va. 138, 147, 785 S.E.2d 844, 853. He observed that the state law of 

contracts controls in detemlining whether there has been a waiver ofan arbitration agreement, (Id.), 

and that it is for the court to detennine whether a waiver has been committed. 785 S.E.2d 844, 852, 

237 W. Va. 138, 146. 

As to the analysis ofwaiver itself, at Syllabus Point 6 Parsons provides these principles of 

law: 

The right to arbitration, like any other contract right, can be waived. To 
establish waiver of a contractual right to arbitrate, the party asserting waiver must 
show that the waiving party knew ofthe right to arbitrate and either expressly waived 
the right, or, based on the totality ofthe circumstances, acted inconsistently with the 
right to arbitrate through acts or language. There is no requirement that the party 
asserting waiver show prejudice or detrimental reliance. 

785 S.E.2d 844, 848,237 W. Va. 138, 142. 

These standards in no way constrict the analysis to conduct committed in litigation. To argue such 

a restriction is to miss the object ofthe analysis-detennining whether the party wanting arbitration 

acted inconsistently with the right to arbitrate through its conduct, whenever that conduct occurred. 
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At most, whether the conduct happened in or out of litigation constitutes part of the ''totality ofthe 

circumstances" to be considered by a court. 

The irreconcilability ofdefendant's restrictive contention with our law is further evidenced 

byParsons' recognition and ratification ofWest Virginia's "long-established law" regarding waiver, 

particularly as set forth by Justice Davis in Potesta v. United States Fid & Guar. Co., 202 W. Va. 

308,504 S.E.2d 135 (1998). 

As we have stated, "[t]he doctrine of waiver focuses on the conduct of the party 
against whom waiver is sought, and requires that party to have intentionally 
relinquished a known right. There is no requirement of prejudice or detrimental 
reliance by the party asserting waiver." Potesta, 202 W. Va. at 315-16, 504 S.E.2d 
at 142-43. 

785 S.E.2d 844,854,237 W. Va. 138, 148. 

Potesta says nothing of focusing on the existence of litigation. Rather, as Parsons picks up, the 

focus is to be on whether the party did or did not relinquish a known right, however and whenever 

that may have occurred. An insurance coverage case, the framing ofPotesta's holding makes it clear 

that litigation can follow the conduct that constitutes waiver. 

First, we hold that there is no requirement that an insured have detrimentally relied 
upon an insurer's previously stated reason(s) for denying coverage in order to assert 
waiver to prevent the insurer, in subsequent litigation, from asserting other, 
previously unarticulated reasons for denying coverage. Rather, the insured must 
show, by clear and convincing evidence where waiver is implied, that the insurer 
intentionally and knowingly waived the previously unarticulated reason(s) for 
denying coverage. 

202 W. Va. 308, 317, 504 S.E.2d 135, 144 (underline added). 

The question is whether at the time ofthe conduct allegedly constituting waiver, whenever 

that occurred, defendant knew ofa right that it relinquished. Here that translates into whether, at the 

time defendant effectuated its decision to reverse its long-standing course ofperformance and deduct 

post -production monies from plaintiffs' royalties, it knew ofthe very broad arbitration provision that 
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charged it with the responsibility to have an arbitration panel ascertain and determine the propriety 

of doing so, and nevertheless opted to forego that procedure. While one can readily understand 

defendant's desire to avoid a substantive analysis under West Virginia law, its effort to inject an 

illusory restriction is unavailing. 

The only other West Virginia Supreme Court case cited by defendant, Citibank, NA. v. 

Perry, supra, also focused upon in-litigation conduct, but like in Parsons, nowhere was it hinted that 

pre-litigation conduct is beyond analytical reach. Nowhere did the Supreme Court reject evidence 

of waiver conduct for having occurred prior to the commencement of the suit. As the Court 

reflected, the test on waiver remains whether a party intentionally relinquished a known right, 

whenever that occurred. 

The extra-jurisdictional cases dredged up by defendant likewise do nothing to help its cause. 

Welborn Clinic v. Medquist, Inc., a 2002 Seventh Circuit case from Indiana, involved claims that the 

defendant engaged in "foot dragging" conduct both before and after the commencement ofthe breach 

ofcontract suit that constituted implied waiver ofthe arbitration provision. 301 F.3d 634 (7th Cir. 

2002). The test on waiver employed by the court was similar to our own. "We will find waiver 

when "based on all the circumstances, the party against whom the waiver is to be enforced has acted 

inconsistently with the right to arbitrate." 301 F.3d 634,637. The court found there was no waiver, 

not based on some notion that pre-litigation conduct was ineligible, but rather based on a substantive 

assessment of the challenged conduct, both before and in litigation. "Here [defendant] moved to 

compel on June 23, 2000, less than eight months after its initial demand for payment was refused 

and less than eight weeks after the complaint was filed." 301 F.3d 634,637. Obviously, the court 

would not have weighed the import ofpre-suit delay had it been irrelevant. Yet, defendant holds this 

case forth. 
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Highlands Wellmont Health Network v. John Deere Health Plan, also cited by defendant, is 

no different. 350 F.3d 568 (6th Cir. 2003). In addressing whether pre-suit communications 

concerning the parties' dispute, which the court characterized as efforts to "stare down" the other 

side in the hope it simply gives up, amounted to waiver ofthe arbitration provision, the court found 

that it did not, but again, it was upon weighing the evidence substantively, like in all the other cases. 

While the facts of Highlands differ so much from our own to be of no comparative use, it is 

nevertheless helpful in demonstrating that a waiver analysis substantively assesses pre-litigation 

conduct, meaning it carries the potential for waiver. Yet, defendant holds the case forth. 

Servpro Intellectual Prop. v. Stellar Emarketing, Inc., which defendant contends to be 

"particularly instructive", pulled from the shelves ofTennessee law, is no different. 2016 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 163556 (M.D. Tenn. Nov. 28, 2016). The court weighed pre-litigation delay (again, with 

facts far different than our own), and found it did not amount to waiver. 

Curiously, in a footnote at Page 14 of its Petition, defendant concedes there just might 

possibly be at least one situation where pre-litigation conduct might amount to waiver-when a party 

"categorically refuses to participate" in arbitration. Plaintiffs agree that such a scenario can amount 

to waiver, but not because ofsome exception-triggering nature ofthe conduct. Rather, it is because 

the conduct, considered within the totality of circumstances, demonstrated the party intentionally 

relinquished a right. 

Defendant seems to have left even itself unconvinced ofits legal argument, for it posits that 

"even ifpre-litigation conduct could as a general matter waive a right to arbitrate," it did not happen 

here, contending plaintiffs are merely claiming by virtue of a breach of contract defendant has 

waived arbitration. (pet., p. 15) This is a mis-characterization of the matter. We are not dealing 
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with a late payment. We are not dealing with mere mis-performance ofa duty both sides agree exists 

under the plain language ofthe contract. We are dealing with a unilateral re-writing ofthe contract 

in mid-term, with a complete reversal ofa long-established course ofdealing, to plaintiffs' detriment, 

on one of the most material ofprovisions-plaintiffs' royalty payments. 

More importantly, we are dealing with an arbitration provision which was intentionally 

written to be as broad as possible, far broader than what is typically seen. It does not call for 

arbitration involvement on "litigation", nor on "a dispute", but rather whenever a "question" exists 

"concerning this lease or performance." 

Defendant asserts plaintiffs are taking improper liberties with the phraseology of the 

arbitration provision, contending that the word "questions" in common and customary usage is 

synonymous with "disputes". (pet. p. 16) True, a question can easily encompass a dispute, but it 

is certainly broader than that. As defendant concedes, a question can be "amatter to be determined", 

which is concept consistent with the remaining language of the provision. This does not require 

any active and mutual engagement in a dispute as condition precedent to obligatory arbitration. 

Plaintiffs are not engaging in word distortion; rather, it is defendant that is bending the 

language to fit its quest. However, having stepped into the shoes of the drafter of the provision, it 

is against defendant that ambiguities and uncertainties are to be construed. 

[W]e have long held that III[u ]ncertainties inan intricate and involved contract 
should be resolved against the party who prepared it.' Syllabus Point 1, Charlton v. 
Chevrolet Motor Co., 115 W. Va. 25,174 S.E. 570 (1934)." Syllabus Point 8, Estate 
ofTawney supra. See also, Combs v. McLynn, 187 W. Va. 490, 493, 419 S.E.2d 903, 
906 (1992); Hays and Co. v. Ancro Oil &Gas, Inc., 411 S.E.2d 478, 480,186 W. Va. 
153, 155 (1991); Smith v. Municipal Mut. Ins. Co., 289 S.E.2d 669, 671-672 169 W. 
Va. 296, 301 (1982); Nisbet v. Watson, 251 S.E.2d 774, 780, 162 W. Va. 522, 530 
(1979); and Henson v. Lamb, 120 W. Va. 552, 199 S.E. 459 (1938). 

Jochum v. Waste Mgmt. ofW. Va., Inc., 224 W. Va. 44,49,680 S.E.2d 59,64 (2009). 
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As seen time and time again, a corporate lessee puts a grossly broad arbitration provision in 

a lease, knowing that any and every conceivable complaint the landowner lessor might ever have is 

caught by it. How often it is that lessor landowners bemoan being forced into arbitration over 

matters having only the slightest connection to the subject matter of a contract. However, as they 

are judicially told, that is the breadth ofthe provision in the contract they agreed to, and so they are 

stuck with it. The sword has two edges however, and here the provision is so broad that it obligates 

the lessee to have arbitrators determine whether it can alter its performance on the royalty payment 

calculations. While defendant calls this absurd, it is what the contract, which the lessee wrote, calls 

for. There is no injustice here. Just the opposite in fact, perhaps with a tinge of irony. 

Desperately looking for help, defendant resorts to the misleading contention that the 

plaintiffs' and Trial Court's interpretation ofthe arbitration provision is "at odds" with that ofother 

courts which have enforced the very same provision. (pet., P. 18) Defendant then cites to three 

decisions, one being from the Northern District of West Virginia Federal Court, and states in the 

negative that not one ofthem found that a party waived its right to arbitration by unilaterally acting 

under the lease. Hellerv. TriEnergy, Inc., 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 94003,2012 WL2740870 (N.D. 

W. Va. July 9, 2012); Robbins v. Chesapeake Appalachia, LLC, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 171414 

(M.D. Pa. Dec. 3,2012); Hope Christian Fellowship v. Chesapeake Energy Corp., 2016 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 135737 (N.D. Ohio Sept. 29, 2016). This would be a stunning revelation worthy of serious 

attention had any ofthese cases addressed the issue ofarbitration waiver even in the slightest degree. 

In truth, not one of these cases involved any contention that the arbitration provision had been 

waived, let alone by "unilateral" performance modification. Rather, other issues, such as scope of 

the arbitration provisions and unconscionability, were the objects ofjudical analysis. Consequently, 
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it is true that none ofthese courts found a party to have committed waiver by unilaterally acting, just 

as none of them found a party is free to unilaterally act in defiance of the arbitration provision. 

Frankly, for defendant to argue these decisions are substantively "at odds" with plaintiffs' 

contentions is alarming. 

As to the evidence ofrecord supporting the Trial Court's ruling, attached and incorporated 

into plaintiffs' Complaint Seeking Declaratory Judgment is the March 26, 2016, e-mail from 

defendant's Land Ownership Representative, Mary Mazdra, substantively admitting that defendant 

unilaterally detemrined to change its performance respecting paying royalties. 

Chevron recently completed a review ofits royalty payment practices regarding post
production costs for West Virginia. Effective with January 2016 productions, 
Chevron will be allocating these costs proportionately to interest owners where 
permitted under the terms of the oil and gas lease or other written agreement 
governing the interest. ... 

(App.7a, l1a) 


This is of course evidence that a Trial Court can consider in ruling upon a motion to dismiss. See, 


Forshey v. Jackson, 222 W. Va. 743, 671 S.E.2d 748 (2008). It was in the record for the Trial 


Court's consideration, and its import in showing unilateral conduct on the part of defendant was 


never challenged. 


Only now, on appeal, does defendant complain that unilateral action evidence is lacking. Not 

only is defendant's current implication that it did not act unilaterally in deducting costs belied by the 

record, it is too late to raise the contention now, for the first time, on appeal. As this High Court 

emphasized in Kronjaeger v. Buckeye Union Ins. Co., 

We frequently have held that issues which do not relate to jurisdictional 
matters and which have not been raised before the circuit court will not be considered 
for the first time on appeal to this Court. See, e.g., SyI. pt. 2, in part, Trent v. Cook, 
198 W. Va. 601,482 S.E.2d 218 (1996) ("'The Supreme Court ofAppeals is limited

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